THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2015

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT Court of Appeals

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001561

Jeffrey D. Allen, on behalf of Jane Doe.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Budget and Control Board,  
Employee Insurance Program.....Respondent.

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

November 24, 2015

John A. Massalon, Esquire  
Wills Massalon & Allen LLC  
P.O. Box 859  
Charleston, South Carolina 29401  
(843) 727-1144

Terry E. Richardson, Jr., Esquire  
Richardson Patrick Westbrook & Brickman,  
LLC  
1730 Jackson Street  
P.O. Box 1368  
Barnwell, SC 29812 5951

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Administrative Law Court (“ALC”) err in concluding that the agency’s position was substantially justified, resulting in denial of Appellant’s motion for attorneys’ fees?
2. If the answer to Issue No. 1 is “yes,” the court should award reasonable fees and costs in the amount of \$61,802.97.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant originally appealed the State Health Plan’s denial of a claim for diabetes education to the Administrative Law Court and sought class relief. The Administrative Law Court upheld the agency’s position that the diabetes education insurance mandate enacted by the General Assembly in 2000, S.C. Code Ann. 38-71-46 (Supp. 2009) did not apply to the State Health Plan. The question was one a statutory interpretation. Appellant appealed the ALC denial, and the Supreme Court agreed to certify the appeal for review. On March 4, 2015, the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the finding the ALC and held that the South Carolina diabetes mandate statute did in fact apply to the State Health Plan as a matter of law. Thereafter, Appellant filed a timely Motion for Attorneys’ Fees before the ALC pursuant to the state action attorneys’ fee authorization statute, S.C. Code 15-77-300. On June 17, 2015, the ALC denied the Motion for Attorneys’ Fees. This appeal follows.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant has traversed a procedural labyrinth in this matter that is worth noting. Appellant first sought explanation of the denial of the insurance claim from Blue Cross Blue Shield, the State Health Plan’s third party claims administrator, and inquired why the diabetes mandate statute at issue did not provide coverage on or about February 25, 2009. Appellant received no response. Therefore, on November 25, 2009 ( which was just prior to the two year mark from the Appellant’s child’s diagnosis of diabetes), Appellant filed a putative class action complaint in the court of common pleas seeking

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The decision to award or deny attorney's fees under the state action statute is subject to the abuse of discretion standard of review in considering the applicable factors set forth in the statute. Layman v. State, 376 S.C. 434, 658 S.E.2d 320 (2008) (citing McMillan v. S.C. Dept. of Agric., 364 S.C. 60, 76, 611 S.E.2d 323, 331 (Ct. App. 2005)). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 601, 553 S.E.2d 110, 121 (2001). In this case, the decision

---

declaratory judgment, reformation of the State Health Plan, disgorgement, injunctive relief, and attorneys' fees against Blue Cross Blue Shield and the State Health Plan. The Defendants in the state court case moved to dismiss on failure to exhaust administrative remedies, and said motion was denied on March 4, 2010.

Three weeks later, Blue Cross Blue Shield denied the claim and sent it to the Blue Cross Appeals Review Committee. The Blue Cross Blue Shield Appeals Committee on April 2, 2010 denied the claim and stated, without explanation, that the diabetes mandate statute does not apply to the State Health Plan. Appellant then appealed that "administrative decision" by sending a copy of his pleadings in the state court case attached to the notice of appeal and incorporating said pleadings therein. On May 6, 2010, Appellant served written discovery on the defendants in the state court case. In response, the defendants filed a Motion for Protective Order and a Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellant filed a Motion to Compel and Motion to Stay the Motion for Summary Judgment, and a hearing was scheduled for August 26, 2010. On August 24, 2010, the State Health Plan Committee wrote that it was denying the claim and again stated the statute does not apply. The state court hearing was held on August 26, wherein the defendants again argued the case should be dismissed because Appellant was required to exhaust administrative remedies. The circuit court granted the defendants motion for summary judgment and dismissed the case "with prejudice" for failure to exhaust administrative remedies, not mentioning the class action and other non-insurance claim remedies sought. The circuit court made no ruling on the merits of the applicability of the diabetes mandate to the State Health Plan. Appellant filed an appeal to the SC Court of Appeals from the circuit court dismissal on January 7, 2011, at which time the appeal to the ALC on the merits of the statute's applicability remained pending. The SC Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal with prejudice based on failure to exhaust on July 18, 2012. It was not until August 13, 2012 that the ALC ruled on the appeal from the "administrative appeal" and erroneously upheld the agency's decision. No court – not circuit court, the Court of Appeals, the ALC, nor the Supreme Court permitted any kind of class-wide relief, despite efforts to raise those claims in both the judicial and administrative branches at every turn.

to deny the motion hinges the ALC's interpretation of "substantial justification" as contained in the state action statute. The interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which this Court reviews *de novo*. Catawba Indian Tribe v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007).

### **FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

The facts leading up to this controversy are fully set forth in the Court's opinion of Allen v. Public Employee Benefit Association of South Carolina, 2015 LEXIS 107 (S.C. 2015). In 2009, Appellant sought an explanation from the State Health Plan of the denial of a claim made for his minor child for diabetes education related to a physician-ordered insulin pump training session which took place in 2008. When no substantive response was forthcoming, Allen submitted a demand as to why the diabetes education insurance mandate, S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46, requiring "every health maintenance organization, individual and group health insurance policy, or contract issues or renewed in this State" did not require payment of the subject claim and all similar claims. (R. p. 179-184). Eventually on August 24, 2010, the agency opined for the first time:

Lastly, the Committee noted the repeated assertions regarding S.C. Code 38-71-46 and Claimant's attorney's assertion that no one has explained why it does not apply to the State Health Plan. While the Committee noted the alternative methods for obtaining diabetes education noted above, the Committee also observed the Department of Insurance and the General Assembly *historically have acknowledged* the Department [of Insurance] has no jurisdiction over EIP. EIP is not a health insurance issuer under the Code. In the areas on which the General Assembly has wanted to include EIP in the Accident and Health Insurance provisions of Title 38, Chapter 31, it has specifically said so. Therefore, because 38-71-46 does not refer to EIP or the State Health Plan, it does not apply to the State Health Plan.

(R. p. 176-177). That explanation contained a single footnote which referenced S.C. Code Ann. §1-11-780 -- a statute addressing mental health coverage -- presumably as the

legal justification for the proposition that the South Carolina Department of Insurance has no jurisdiction over the State Health Plan— an insurance program which admittedly insures over 400,000 South Carolinians. The only support for this underlying legal conclusion appeared on the Medical Affairs Review Coordinator’s Response in long-hand dated March 15, 2010 and signed by Ashby M. Jordan, MD, V.P. Medical Affairs wherein she writes “the statute referenced in the appeal document does not apply to the State Health Plan.” (R. p. 178).

Allen appealed that determination to the ALC. Without hearing or trial, the ALC affirmed the State Health Plan’s decision on nearly identical statutory interpretation reasoning as that set forth by the agency. (R. pp. 15-26). Allen appealed the ALC decision, and sought transfer to the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court agreed to hear the appeal, and reversed the ALC holding that the diabetes mandate statute applied to the State Health Plan. Thereafter, Appellant filed a motion for attorneys’ fees before the ALC. The motion was denied by Order dated June 17, 2015.

In this appeal, Appellant relies on the findings of the Supreme Court that the statute was unambiguous and that the plain language of the statute subjected the State Health Plan to the insurance mandate. The Supreme Court rejected the statutory interpretation advocated by the State Health Plan, and rejected the State Health Plan’s efforts to use legislation enacted subsequent to the enactment of the diabetes mandate to inform legislative intent. In denying the Motion for Attorneys’ Fees, the ALC concludes that the statute was ambiguous (a finding contrary to the Supreme Court’s prior determination) and recounts the previously relied upon arguments of the underlying order affirming the State Health Plan’s position that the statute did not apply to it as grounds to

find that the State Health Plan's position was "substantially justified," thus, denying the motion for attorneys' fees.

### ARGUMENT

#### **A. THE ALC ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT THE STATE HEALTH PLAN'S ACTIONS WERE SUBSTANTIALLY JUSTIFIED**

Section 15-77-300 permits an award of reasonable attorneys' fees in cases involving state action if the court finds that the agency acted without substantial justification in pressing its claim, and if there are no special circumstances that would make an attorney's fee award unjust. *Id.* It states, in relevant part:

(A) In any civil *action brought* by the State, any political subdivision of the State or *any party who is contesting state action, unless the prevailing party is the State* or any political subdivision of the State, the court may allow the prevailing party to recover reasonable attorney's fees to be taxed as court costs against the appropriate agency *if*:

- (1) the court *finds that the agency acted without substantial justification* in pressing its claim against the party; and
- (2) the court finds that *there are no special circumstances* that would make the award of attorney's fees unjust.

(emphasis added). The ALC agreed that the Appellant was the prevailing party in an action contesting state action. The ALC based the denial of the motion on the conclusion that the State's claims were not without substantial justification. Appellant submits this conclusion was an abuse of discretion in the light of the law of this case, and findings by the Supreme Court in the underlying opinion.

When a state agency's claims have no "reasonable basis in law or fact," they are without substantial justification. Heath v. County of Aiken, 302 S.C. 178, 394 S.E.2d 709 (1990). In Heath, the Supreme Court found that the County of Aiken had violated a state statute prohibiting county governing bodies from developing certain personnel policies

under the direction of elected officials. Id. In evaluating the claim that the statute had not been followed by the County, the Supreme Court found that the statute at issue was “unambiguous,” and further determined that the County’s actions had violated the statute. On the basis --that the statute was clear and that the county’s actions had violated that statute, the Court held that attorneys’ fees were due under the state action statute.

In McDowell v. S.C. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 304 S.C. 539, 543, 405 S.E.2d 830 (1991), a case involving food stamp benefits, DSS relied on an erroneous legal analysis in pursuing its position that McDowell’s jointly titled assets disqualified her from benefits. The Supreme Court eventually rejected DSS’s legal analysis and held that the DSS’s position was incorrect as a matter of law. In addressing the request for attorneys’ fees, the Court commented that the facts regarding McDowell’s joint ownership of the car were undisputed, and that DSS maintained the wrong legal conclusion, and therefore its position was not “substantially justified.” In the case of Layman v. State, 376 S.C. 434, 658 S.E.2d 320 (2008) (awarding \$445,226.30 in attorneys’ fees based on hourly lodestar analysis against the State and State Retirement System), the Court found that the Retirement System’s breach of an unambiguous contract was the equivalent to the breach of an unambiguous statute, and allowed attorneys’ fees under the state action statute. Id. at 449, 658 S.E.2d 320.

While the fact of a defeat of the state agency does not create a presumption that its position was not substantially justified, the court must look to the substance and outcome of the matter litigated in making its determination under the statute. Layman, 658 S.E.2d at 445. In this case, the South Carolina General Assembly enacted a diabetes insurance coverage mandate in 1999. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46. It mandated broad insurance coverage for claims related to diabetes treatment, diabetes medications, diabetes supplies,

and diabetes management education services. Nonetheless, the State Health Plan, as administered by the state agency Public Employees Benefit Authority, excluded from its plan coverage for educational/medical social services, which admittedly excluded diabetes management education claims. (R. p. 175; R. p.178).

In 2008, the State Health Plan refused to pay Appellant's claim for diabetes management education services provided at MUSC related to training family and caretakers how to use a prescribed (and covered) insulin pump for Appellant's two-year old dependent daughter. This claim and appeals followed. The State Health Plan took the position it was not required to comply with the diabetes insurance mandate statute as a matter of law. There were no disputed facts regarding Appellant's claim. The issue decided by the South Carolina Supreme Court was an issue statutory interpretation. The Supreme Court wholly rejected the State Health Plan's legal analysis, and adopted the Appellant's analysis, on most points.

[w]e find that the General Assembly sought to alleviate and prevent diabetes's potentially devastating effects on those South Carolinians suffering from the disease by mandating coverage for the equipment, supplies, medication, and education for the treatment of diabetes. Thus, given the prevalence of diabetes in South Carolina, coupled with the General Assembly's purpose behind [the diabetes mandate statute], we find it *inconceivable* that the General Assembly intended to exclude South Carolinians insured by the State Health Plan from receiving benefits. . .

(emphasis added). Allen v. S.C. Pub. Empl. Benefit Auth., 2015 S.C. LEXIS 107, at \*8 (Mar. 4, 2015). The Court also agreed with Appellant that the plain language of the statute, in the context of grammatical construction, supported the conclusion that benefits need not be provided by a "health care issuer," as that term was defined, in order to qualify as health insurance coverage under the statute. Id. at \*7-8. In dicta, assuming for argument purposes only that the statute was ambiguous, the Court rejected the State

Health Plan's position that the court should consider the General Assembly's subsequent alleged "method" for identifying whether a general insurance statute applies to the State Health Plan by choosing whether or not to reference the State Health Plan specifically in the insurance mandate in question. Id. at \*10-11. The Court stated because the other references to the State Health Plan in the general insurance statute were enacted years after the diabetes mandate (enacted in 1999), "they should be viewed in the light of when they were enacted, [and] do not support the ALC's conclusions that the General Assembly did not intend for [the diabetes mandate statute] to apply to the State Health Plan." The Court further rejected an argument that the placement of certain definitions in Title 1 and Title 38 should inform the question, and rejected the effort to apply Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA) case law to distinguish self-insured plans for state insurance mandates. Id. at \*12.

The Court held simply, "as a matter of law, that section 38-71-43 applies to the State Health Plan." Id.

In finding that the State Health Plan acted with substantial justification, the ALC gave very light shrift to the Supreme Court's interpretation of the diabetes mandate state. Instead, the ALC found that the statute was ambiguous, a finding directly contrary to that of the Supreme Court, and thus the law of the case. (R. p. 28-33)<sup>2</sup>. The ALC also relied on what it described as "complicated grammatical structure, the longstanding agency practice denying similar claims without contest, the unique nature of the State Health Plan, and the legislative treatment of the State Health Plan in the citations provided by

---

<sup>2</sup> Curiously, despite holding that the diabetes mandate statute was ambiguous for purposes of denying Appellant's Motion for Attorneys' fees, the ALC previously held that the same diabetes mandate statute was "not ambiguous" in its inapplicability to the State Health Plan (R. p. 15-26).

Respondent.” (R. p. 32). First, neither the Supreme Court’s Order (nor the Appellant’s position) on reading the grammatical structure was particularly complicated. The Court concluded, instead that the State Health Plan’s reading of the statute (which was adopted by the ALC) was “tortured and illogical,” and commented on how when the legislature uses the phrase “every,” it is generally intended to mean exactly that. There is neither factual nor legal support for the conclusion that the grammatical structure of the mandate rendered it ambiguous. Second, Appellant is unaware of any evidence in the record, other than maybe lawyer argument, that the State Health Plan had a “longstanding agency practice denying similar claims without contest.” In fact, the State Health Plan refused in all proceedings related to this case to provide Appellant any information about other claimants and other denials. However, it can be presumed that since the State Health Plan contended the diabetes mandate statute did not apply to it at all, that it in fact denied all claims made by its members since 2000. The State Health Plan cannot be found to have acted with substantial justification simply because no one had ever complained about it before.

While the question of whether the statute applied to the State Health Plan might be considered novel because no one had previously gone to the effort to formally challenge the State Health Plan’s legal opinion. “The fact that novel issues were raised does not mean [the state agency] was substantially justified, . . . .” Cornelius v. Oconee County, 369 S.C. 531, 633 S.E.2d 92 (2006) (affirming award of attorneys’ fees under state action statute). Lastly, the Supreme Court flatly rejected the State Health Plan’s attempt to backstrap future legislation regarding insurance mandates’ applicability to the State Health Plan, and therefore the ALC’s reliance on that position is too without legal basis.

If one were to follow the logic of the ALC, no prevailing party in a state action case would ever qualify for an award of attorneys' fees when on appeal from the ALC, the ALC is found to have erred as a matter of law. This is the classic case where attorneys' fees should be awarded to the prevailing party under the state action statute. The state's legal position on an unambiguous statute was unjustified. The language of the statute was plain that it applies to the State Health Plan. There were no factual disputes at play, and the Supreme Court rejected all of the legal positions propounded by the agency. In this case, because the State Health Plan acted directly contrary to a statutory mandate which by its plain terms applied to "every health maintenance organization, individual and group health insurance policy, or contract issues or renewed in this State . . ." See S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46(A) (emphasis added), the State Health Plan should be found to have lacked justification for denying the benefit to its members.

Under the state action statute and cases interpreting it, a state agency that enforces a preexisting statutory mandate, which is only later determined to be unconstitutional, is entitled to presumption that its actions were substantially justified. See Video Gaming Consultants, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 358 S.C. 647, 595 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2004) (agency must follow the law as written until the statute is judicially addressed). In this case, the State Health Plan did the opposite. It refused to apply the diabetes coverage statutory mandate which has been the force of law since 2000; it specifically excluded from its insurance plan coverage for diabetes education, despite that mandate. Its refusal was without any legal justification. It is certainly not entitled to any presumption in its favor.

While the ALC did not reach the question as to whether there were *special circumstances* which would make an award of attorneys' fee in this case unjust, there are

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