RECEIVED

NOV 18 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Shirley C. Robinson, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001561

Jeffrey D. Allen, on behalf of Jane Doe.....Appellant.

v.

South Carolina Budget and Control Board,
Employee Insurance Program.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Theodore D. Willard, Jr.
MONTGOMERY WILLARD, LLC
1002 Calhoun Street
Post Office Box 11886
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1886
Telephone: (803) 779-3500

Stephen Van Camp
**SOUTH CAROLINA PUBLIC EMPLOYEE
BENEFIT EMPLOYEE INSURANCE PROGRAM**
202 Arbor Lake Drive
Columbia, South Carolina 29223

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

ARGUMENTS

I. **THE ALC DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT’S POSITION THAT S.C. CODE ANN. §38-71-46 DID NOT APPLY TO THE STATE HEALTH PLAN WAS SUBSTANTIALLY JUSTIFIED.**

A. **Standard of Review**

The decision to award or deny attorney’s fees under the state action statute will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion by the trial court in considering the applicable factors set forth by the statute. Layman v. State, 376 S.C. 434, 444, 658 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2008) “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court are either controlled by an error of law or are based on unsupported factual conclusions.” Id. (citing Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 601, 553 S.E.2d 110, 121 (2001)).

B. **The ALC Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Finding That EIP’s Interpretation of The Statute was Substantially Justified By the Complicated Grammatical Structure of The Statute, The Legislative Treatment of The State Health Plan and The Unique Nature of The State Health Plan.**

The ALC did not abuse its discretion in finding that EIP’s interpretation of the statute was substantially justified by the complicated grammatical structure of the statute, its legislative treatment of the State Health Plan and the unique nature of the State Health Plan. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has held that “[s]ubstantial justification for purposes of the state action statute means justified to a degree that could satisfy a reasonable person.” Layman v. State, 376 S.C. 434, 445, 658 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2008) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). Stated differently, “the relevant question is whether the agency’s position in litigating the case had a reasonable basis in law and in fact.” Id. at 445, 658 S.E.2d at 326. The Court in Layman further recognized that “an

agency's loss on the merits does not create a presumption that its position was not substantially justified. . . ." Id. Similarly, in Pierce v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552 (1988), which was cited in Layman, the U.S. Supreme Court noted that "a position can be justified even though it is not correct, and we believe it can be substantially (i.e., for the most part) justified if a reasonable person could think it correct, that is, if it has a reasonable basis in law and fact." 487 U.S. at 566 n.2. "In other words, §15-77-300 is not a statute that provides for an award of attorneys' fees in every instance in which the government agency loses the case; to so hold would convert the statute into a 'loser pays' statute. Rather, §15-77-300 provides for the payment of fees only when the agency loses while taking a position for which there was not a reasonable basis in law and fact." R.P. v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Human Services, 06-ALJ-08-0605-AP (April 14, 2014).

§ 38-71-46(D), defines what "health insurance polic[ies]" are covered under the diabetes education mandate in section 38-71-46(A). Since the Plan is a group health plan, section 38-71-46(D) requires the use of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840(A)(14) (2002) to determine whether the Plan provides "health insurance coverage," so as to be a "health insurance policy" covered by the diabetes education mandate.

Section 38-71-840 (14) provides:

"Health insurance coverage" means benefits consisting of medical care provided directly, through insurance or reimbursement, or otherwise and including items and services paid for as medical care under any hospital or medical service policy or certificate, hospital or medical service plan contract, or health maintenance organization contract offered by a health insurance issuer...

Ultimately, whether the Plan qualifies as "health insurance coverage" depends on what the phrase "offered by a health insurance issuer" modifies in S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840(14) (2002). The claims administrator, the EIP Health Appeals Committee, ALC,

and Justice Pleicones read “[b]enefits consisting of medical care provided directly, through insurance or reimbursement, or otherwise and including items and services paid for as medical care” as describing what types of provided benefits qualify as “health insurance coverage.” They also read the next section “under any hospital or medical service policy or certificate, hospital or medical service plan contract, or health maintenance organization contract offered by a health insurance issuer” as describing what types of insuring agreements offer “health insurance coverage.” The term “offered by health insurance issuer” modifies the three types of insurance agreements in the statute, that is, (1) a hospital or medical service policy or certificate, (2) a hospital or medical service plan contract, or (3) a health maintenance organization contract. Accordingly, to qualify as “health insurance coverage” the policy, certificate, or contract must be issued by a “health insurance issuer.”

Multiple prior decision makers all took the position that EIP was not a “health insurance issuer” as this term is defined in S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-840(16) (2002), which stated:

“Health insurance issuer” or “issuer” means any entity that provides health insurance coverage in this State. For purposes of this section, “issuer” includes an insurance company, a health maintenance organization, and any other entity providing health insurance coverage which is licensed to engage in the business of insurance in this State and which is subject to state insurance regulation.

EIP was not a “health insurance issuer” because EIP was not licensed to engage in the business of insurance in this State and not subject to State insurance regulation. See S.C. Code Ann. § 1-11-780 (Supp. 2013) (“[t]he State Employee Insurance Program. . . is not under the jurisdiction of the Department of Insurance”). Since EIP is not a “health insurance issuer” under section 38-71-840(16), the Plan did not provide “health insurance

coverage” as defined in section 38-71-840(14). Further, since section 38-71-46 only mandates diabetes education coverage for a “health insurance policy” that provides “health insurance coverage” as defined by section 38-71-840(14), EIP and the prior decision makers all found that Appellant's claim was properly denied.

EIP’s position that its interpretation was also supported by the legislative intent of the statute was also substantially justified. If the language of a statute gives rise to doubt or uncertainty as to legislative intent, the construing court may search for that intent beyond the borders of the statute itself. Wade v. Berkeley County, 348 S.C. 224, 229, 559 S.E.2d 586, 588 (2002). The General Assembly has chosen to separate the State Health Plan from general insurance regulation by placing the State Health Plan’s governing statutes in Title 1, Chapter 11 of the S.C. Code, rather than in Title 38, Chapter 71 (General Insurance Statutes). Since the General Assembly separated the Plan from the General Insurance Statutes, it has included an express reference to the Plan in the General Insurance Statutes when those statutes are to apply to the State Health Plan. See S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-785(B) (Supp. 2013) (“This section applies. . .including the state health plan. . .”); S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-243(B) (Supp. 2013) (“This section applies. . .including the state health plan. . .”). Furthermore, in the context of coverage mandates, the General Assembly has made a direct reference to the State Health Plan when it intends for a mandate found in the General Insurance Statutes to apply to the Plan. See S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-280 (Supp. 2013) (mandating coverage for autism spectrum disorder, “[i]t includes the State Health Plan. . . ‘State Health Plan’ means the employee and retirees insurance program provided for in Article 5, Chapter 11, Title 1”).

The diabetes education mandate, however, contained no reference to the Plan either

in the text or the enacting legislation. As Justice Pleicones stated in his dissent, “[i]f a General Insurance Statute applies to the Plan even when the Plan is not mentioned, then there would have been no reason to include the express reference to the Plan in any General Insurance Statute...”Allen, 411 S.C. at 624; 769 S.E.2d at 673; (R. p. 47).

Interestingly, the majority in Allen recognized its decision could be perceived as being inconsistent with prevailing law when it noted in footnote 10 of the decision that, “[a]lthough section 38-71-46 indicates that the General Assembly intended for the diabetes mandate to apply to the State Health Plan, we do not conclude that the canon of construction ‘expression unius est exclusion alterius’ applies here, or that the State Health Plan is governed by every general insurance statute where the General Assembly failed to expressly exclude the State Health Plan.” Id. Despite this footnote, the majority failed to provide any guidance to determine which Title 38 mandates apply to the State Health Plan and which ones do not.

C. The ALC Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Finding That EIP’s Position Was Substantially Justified Because The Interpretation of § 38-71-46 Was A Novel Question of Law.

The ALC also did not abuse its discretion by finding that EIP’s position was substantially justified because the interpretation of § 38-71-46 was a novel question of law that had never been litigated. Appellant’s own brief conceded that the interpretation of § 38-71-46 had never been previously litigated, when it stated on page 12 of its brief that the Supreme Court agreed to hear the case because “[t]he Court indicated that [the] issue was a novel issue of law.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 12). Because the interpretation of § 38-71-46 had never been previously litigated, EIP’s decision that it did not apply to the Plan was substantially justified. See R.P. v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Human Services, at *7 (holding

that the fact that an issue had never been previously litigated was a reason courts have held a position was substantially justified); Cody v. Caterisano, 631 F.3d 136, 142 (4th Cir. 2011) (“litigating cases of first impression is generally justifiable”); Southern Dredging Co., Inc. v. U.S., 1996 WL 516158, 3 (4th Cir. 1996) (“In lawsuits involving first-impression interpretations of statutes, many circuits, including ours, have found that the United States is presumptively substantially justified within the meaning of the EAJA if its position is a reasonable legal position and the question is being addressed for the first time in the circuit”). Because the interpretation of § 38-71-46 had never been litigated in any context, the ALC did not abuse its discretion by finding EIP was substantially justified in challenging its application to the Plan.

D. The ALC Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Finding That EIP’s Position Was Substantially Justified Based On EIP’S Longstanding Agency Practice of Enforcing The Terms of The State Health Plan As Written.

The ALC did not abuse its discretion in finding that EIP’s position was substantially justified based on EIP’s longstanding agency practice of enforcing the terms of the State Health Plan as written. It is undisputed that under the terms of the State Health Plan as written that services for diabetes education were excluded. During Appellant’s Supreme Court appeal, Plaintiff conceded this point when it abandoned any argument that diabetes educational training was covered under the language of the State Health Plan. Allen, 411 S.C. at 613 n7, 769 S.E.2d at 668 n7; (R. p. 36). Because EIP was merely enforcing the terms of the State Health Plan as written, EIP’s position was substantially justified.

E. As An Additional Sustaining Ground The ALC Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Finding That EIP’s Position Was Substantially Justified Because Prior Multiple Decision Makers Came To The Same Conclusion.

Respondent's decision that S.C. Code Ann. § 38-71-46 did not apply to the State Health Plan was substantially justified in that EIP's position had been accepted by multiple prior decision makers. The claims administrator, the EIP Health Appeals Committee, the ALC and Justice Pleicones of the Supreme Court all held that § 38-71-46 did not apply to the Plan. This fact alone strongly suggests that the issue was one over which reasonable minds could differ. As Chief Administrative Law Judge Ralph King Anderson, III found in R.P. v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Human Services, 06-ALJ-08-0605-AP (April 14, 2014):

In the present case, as already noted, a DHHS Hearing Officer, an ALJ, and two of five Justices of the South Carolina Supreme Court held that R. 88-210 was inapplicable to eligibility decisions. The contrary view ultimately prevailed, but it was adopted only by a 3-2 decision in the Supreme Court. That fact alone strongly suggests the issue was one over which reasonable minds could differ. Moreover, in this instance, the dissenting opinion was amply detailed and well-reasoned. Accordingly, the agency's position was substantially justified.

Id. at *5.

A number of cases have held that when an agency's litigation position has met with some degree of success in the courts, even if it does not prevail in the end, the agency's position should be regarded as reasonable and supported by substantial justification. In U.S. v. Thouvenot, Wade & Moerschen, Inc., 596 F.3d 378, 382 (7th Cir. 2010) it was held that "there is a presumption that a government case strong enough to survive both a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment is substantially justified." See also, e.g., U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Com'n v. WeCorp, Inc., 878 F. Supp. 2d 1160, 1164-65 (D. Hawaii 2012). Similarly, in Wyandotte Sav. Bank v. N.L.R.B., 682 F.2d 119, 120 (6th Cir. 1982), the court held that when the government's position had been adopted by dissenting or concurring judges in appellate decisions, then "[c]learly, the Board had a reasonable basis for [its position]."

The same reasoning has been applied in several federal cases in South Carolina in which the District Judge declined to accept the Magistrate Judge's Report and Recommendations, but still held that the government's unsuccessful position was substantially justified. In Levine v. Astrue, 2010 WL 3522383, *2 (D.S.C. 2010), the Court held that while "reasonable minds disagreed about the Commissioner's final decision," and the government did not ultimately prevail, the "substantially justified" standard of Pierce, supra, is satisfied because "there is a genuine dispute [or] reasonable people could differ as to the appropriateness of the contested action." 2010 WL 3522383, at *1. Accord, McKoy v. Colvin, 2013 WL 6780585, * 3 (D.S.C. 2013) ("the fact that the Magistrate Judge recommended that the Commissioner's decision be affirmed suggests that the Commissioner's position was substantially justified..." even though "ultimately not convincing.").

Because the claims administrator, the EIP Health Appeals Committee, the ALC and Justice Pleicones of the Supreme Court, in a lengthy, detailed, well-reasoned dissent, all held that § 38-71-46 did not apply to the Plan, EIP's position was substantially justified.

II. APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO \$61,802.97 IN ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS.

A. Because Appellant Has No Written Fee Agreement With His Counsel For This Case, And Submitted No Evidence That Appellant Actually Incurred Fees In This Case, An Award Of Attorney's Fees Is Improper.

Appellant is not entitled to attorney's fees and costs in this case in that Appellant has no written fee agreement with his counsel for this case, and there is no evidence that the client actually incurred fees for this case. On the first page of the fee agreement attached to the Affidavit of John Massalon as Exhibit C, it states that the agreement is regarding the

case entitled “Jeffrey Allen, Individually, as guardian for Jane Doe, a minor, and as representative of other similarly situated State of South Carolina employees v. S.C. Budget & Control Board,” “Case No.: 09-CP-10-7407”. (R. p. 76). This circuit court case is a different case than the one at issue here. Appellant’s own brief states that, “it is undisputed that this ALC case was ongoing while Appellant attempted to, institute and maintain a circuit court case seeking a class action.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 13).

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